01/28/2025

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0461

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA CAUSE NO. DA 23-0461

STATE OF MONTANA,

and

Plaintiff and Appellee,

DONALD EDWARD FOSTER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appellant/Defendant's Opening Brief

On Appeal from the District Court of the Thirteenth Judicial District Court of the State of Montana, In and For Yellowstone County

Before the Honorable Michael G. Moses Cause No. DC-21-625-IN

SCOTTI L. RAMBERG Peace Law Group, LLC 3010 Santa Fe Court Ste. 222 Missoula, MT. 59808 Telephone (406) 390-5026 Scotti@integrityfirstlaw.com AUSTIN KNUDSON
Montana Attorney General

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Appellant's counsel was ineffective when she failed to object to multiple charges which were precluded under Montana's statutory protections against multiple charges which are lesser included offenses or offenses that constitute the same transaction.
- II. Appellant's right to due process was violated when he was excluded from a critical stage of the proceedings, where he had not waived his appearance. His absence constituted a structural error. Alternatively, it cannot constitute harmless error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The present case involves the story of Appellant Donald Foster ("Foster"), who on the night of May 3, 2021, took his adopted mother and a house guest, Mercedes, hostage at knife point and later gun point. First, Foster threatened both Mercedes and his adopted mother with a knife, then tied both of them up. Foster's adopted mother escaped and notified authorities, who responded and along with Foster's brother, negotiated with Foster throughout the night. During which time, Foster sexually assaulted and raped Mercedes. Foster forced Mercedes to perform oral sex upon him, attempted to vaginally penetrate her, and when that was unsuccessful, he penetrated her anally.

Eventually, Mercedes along with police negotiators and Foster's brother convinced Foster to give up, which he did with Mercedes in tow. Mercedes and Foster were both taken to the hospital to receive forensic exams. The State charged Foster with four counts of aggravated sexual intercourse without consent, three counts of attempted sexual intercourse without consent, and one count of aggravated kidnapping. This was eventually amended to three counts of aggravated sexual intercourse without consent, two counts of attempted sexual intercourse without consent, and two counts of aggravated kidnapping.

The acts the State used to charge the four counts of aggravated sexual intercourse without consent occurred on the same date, at the same location, and with the same victim, meaning they constituted the same transaction. Specifically, the first count charged Foster for penetrating Mercedes' mouth with his penis, and the second and third count charge Foster for anally penetrating Mercedes two times. However, this was one attack that started with Foster forcing her to perform oral sex then moving to what Foster wanted to be vaginal penetration, albeit unsuccessful, followed by anal penetration, followed by a second failed attempt at vaginal penetration followed by another anal penetration. Additionally, both counts of attempted sexual intercourse without consent were part of the completed sexual intercourse without consent.

While these acts deserve to be charged and punished, the charges must be legal and in line with the facts of the case. Here, there was one aggravated sexual intercourse without consent, one date, one location and one person, but the State divided it into five separate crimes to create multiple additional charges in violation of Montana's statutory prohibitions. Further, Foster's counsel did not object to the multiple charges, or challenge them in any way, which constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel, and prejudiced Foster. As such the Court should, at a minimum, vacate the impermissible counts and remand for resentencing. Additionally, based upon the numerous multiple charges, the Court should determine that Foster suffered prejudice and reverse and remand for retrial on the one count of aggravated sexual intercourse without consent, and affirm the aggravated kidnapping counts, which Foster does not challenge.

Additionally, Foster was subject to two jury trials, and despite double jeopardy not attaching, Foster's fundamental right to be present at every critical stage of the proceedings was violated, and Foster suffered prejudice as a result. Specifically, on the first day of the first jury trial, a Friday, and after the jury had been selected, the State received a vague letter from Foster's cellmate alleging Foster had confessed to the cellmate. The State turned a copy over to Foster's defense counsel. Thereafter, defense counsel, the prosecutor, and the court met in-chambers, on the record, during the trial with Foster not present; and neither informing him of

the new evidence nor the in-chambers meeting with the judge on the record, to determine a way forward. Foster's desires and decision to proceed forward or not were completely circumvented by this event. Although the Judge was adamant the court would be empaneling a jury that day, the State requested the court refrain from swearing in the jury, to avoid allowing Foster's double jeopardy right from attaching. Foster's counsel, without consulting Foster, consented to this arrangement, and the court then, in that meeting without any further consideration or information from Foster, agreed not to swear in the jury. Thereby preventing Foster's right to double jeopardy from attaching. The jury was selected that day, but was purposely not sworn in. The following Monday, trial resumed, wherein it appears Foster remained unaware of what occurred in-chambers the prior Friday, the first day of jury trial. Ultimately, the State moved for a continuance of trial to allow the State and defense to interview the cellmate. Foster's attorney consented to the continuance; again, and apparently, without consulting Foster. The court granted the continuance without any inquiry of Foster and released the fourteen jurors selected.

Foster was then required to wait four additional months to be trialed on all the counts alleged by the State, and found guilty by a new jury, on each count. Thereafter, Foster was sentenced to five Life sentences, one for each count of aggravated sexual intercourse without consent, and for each count of attempted

sexual intercourse without consent, all run concurrently, but consecutively to the 100 years, or 50 years for each count, of aggravated kidnapping.

Foster alleges that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the counts which would have been barred by Montana's statutory protections against multiple charges, or multiple prosecutions for the same offense. Further, Foster alleges that he was denied his fundamental right to be present at every critical stage of the proceedings against him.

Foster asks the Court to reverse the convictions and remand for a new trial on the basis that his fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of the proceedings was violated. Further, hold that Foster suffered prejudice based upon the unauthorized multiple charges that were levied against him in violation of Montana's statutory provisions, and therefore dismiss the counts which are volitive to Montana's protections against multiple charges, and remand for resentencing on the remaining counts; or if the Court deems proper, reverse the convictions on all charges on the basis that his fundamental rights were violated and double jeopardy should have attached had his counsel not been ineffective.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State bifurcated Foster's heinous act into five separate charges, in violation of Montana's prohibition against multiple charges for the same offense or transaction.

Foster's fundamental right to be present at every critical stage of the proceedings against him was violated when the court met with the State and defense counsel, without Foster being present, and addressed newly discovered evidence against Foster, and decided to refrain from swearing in the jury, which the court had intended to do, to prevent Foster's fundamental protection from double jeopardy from attaching, so as to allow the State to continue the trial without risking a double jeopardy challenge.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 3, 2021, Mercedes (identified as M. in various documents within the record), then 18 years old got into a fight with her mother, after the fight, Mercedes decided to leave and go stay with her older friend, Judy. Transcript of Proceedings, January 19, 2023, Day Three, Second Jury Trial ("Tr. Day 3 2nd JT"), 44:14-45:19. Mercedes considered Judy as a second grandmother and had stayed with Judy previously. *Id.*, 42:18-43:13. Upon arrival, Mercedes met Foster, who is Judy's adopted son and who had been staying with Judy. *Id.*, 45:25-46:1,

After saying hello to Judy, Mercedes settled into an upstairs bedroom near Judy's room. *Id.*, 48:12-14. Sometime later, Mercedes was awoken by Foster knocking and informing Mercedes that her mother called, and she should come with Foster to call her mother back. *Id.*, 49:20-50:11. When Mercedes declined saying she would call her mother the following day, Foster charged into the room

brandishing a knife causing Mercedes to scream. *Id.*, 50:25-52:3. Judy emerged from her bedroom and saw Foster holding the knife. Foster demanded Judy and Mercedes follow his instructions or face terrible consequences. *Id.*, 52:10-53:17. Both complied, and were tied up with various items. *Id.*, 54:8-55:12. After Judy and Mercedes were restrained, Foster took them downstairs, placing Judy in a bathroom, and Mercedes into his bedroom. *Id.*, 56:9-59:17.

While Judy was in the bathroom, Foster sequestered Mercedes in his bedroom with the door partially open. *Id.*, 61:12-17. Foster instructed Mercedes to remove her clothing, and Mercedes complied. *Id.*, 62:12-63:8. While Mercedes was sitting on the bed, Foster approached her and forced her to perform oral sex on him, he then had Mercedes lay on the bed where he climbed on top of her attempting to have vaginal sex with her, which proved unsuccessful. *Id.*, 63:14-66:2. After Foster "couldn't get it in," he became frustrated and anally raped Mercedes. *Id.*, 65:25-66:9.

During this encounter, Judy fled from the bathroom and left the house. *Id.*, 66:13-21. Based on Merecedes testimony, Foster forced or attempted to force Merecedes to perform oral sex upon him twice, and at some point, achieved ejaculation. *Id.*, 66:22-67:14.

Over the course of the next several hours, Foster would be on and off the phone with police, hostage negotiators, and Foster's brother, all of whom were attempting to resolve what had now become a hostage situation. *Id.*, 71:15-74:25.

While these calls were ongoing, and in the intermission between the calls, Foster continued to be sexually aggressive with Mercedes raping her in between and at times, while on the phone with officers calling. *Id.*, 75:1-80:23.

Mercedes, along with negotiators and Foster's brother, convinced Foster to surrender and let Mercedes go. *Id.*, 90:9-91:17. Mercedes was transported to a clinic for medical treatment and to complete a rape kit, and the investigation into Foster began in earnest. *Id.*, 91:18-92:2; Transcript of Proceedings, January 17, 2023, Day One, Second Jury Trial ("Tr. Day 1 2nd JT"), 142:11-19, 143:3-10.

On August 26, 2022, a Friday, Foster's case proceeded to its first jury trial on the merits. See Transcript of Proceedings, August 26, 2022, Day 1 Jury Trial ("Tr. Day 1, 1st JT"), generally. At the outset, outside the presence of the jury, the State asked the court to address the defense motions to exclude DNA evidence, associated testimony from an expert, along with a 911 call and associated foundational witness which were not timely disclosed by the State. Tr. Day 1, 1st JT, 6:21-22:22. Along with counsel, Foster was personally present at this hearing. *Id.*, 4:10-18. The court reserved ruling upon the defense motion to exclude, and *voir dire* began. *Id.*, 22:14-19, 25:12-20. *Voir dire* proceeded as normal until the lunch break, when the State informed the court that it had received an unsolicited letter from Foster's cell mate, who was now a potential witness who the State had not had an opportunity to interview or otherwise verify the allegations made in the letter. *Id.*, 115:21-116:9.

After lunch, on the record, the Defense Counsel, the prosecution and the Court met in chambers without Foster. Prior to announcing the letter's arrival, the State inquired if the court intended to impanel the jury on that day or wait until Monday, to which the court responded, "No, we are impaneling the jury today." *Id.*, 115:12-20. Along with informing the court about the newly received letter and potential witness, the State then informed the court that it had concerns about impaneling the jury on that day because doing so could impact the State's response to the new letter. *Id.*, 115:21-116:15. The State requested the court not empanel the jury, and instead wait until the following week. *Id.*, 116:13-15.

Defense counsel began by stating "...Mr. Foster is not present for this conversation." *Id.*, 116:17-18. When questioned why Mr. Foster was not present, defense counsel replied, "He does not know yet this has happened." *Id.*, 116:20-21. Yet, defense counsel went on to say, in regard to the new potential witness (cell mate) "...in talking with the State, I think if they get the statement, the idea would be to request more time before proceeding to trial so that if there is anything substantive that this individual has they (the State) have the opportunity to find that out, we have the opportunity to follow it up and then we will proceed to trial." *Id.*, 117:1-7. Foster's counsel went further to say "...there is concern if a jury is impaneled, you know, how can we proceed, what if there is something in there that

is substantive would create an issue for appeal if it is not allowed in trial..." *Id*., 117:10-14.

In response to these representations, the court changed its position regarding impaneling the jury, "My inclination in light of what I just heard each of you will want to be engaged in the interview over the weekend. So my inclination originally was, no, we are not going to impanel this jury that was my intentions today. But double jeopardy will attach if we do... So my inclination is that – in fact, my ruling will be that we will not impanel this jury until Monday morning at nine o'clock." *Id.*, 117:18-118:2. Although it did not change the court's position, the court noted it was "a little uncomfortable that he (Foster) is not here." *Id.*, 118:11-12.

The remainder of the day was spent completing *voir dire*, and by 3:00 p.m. the fourteen jury members were selected and seated. Tr. Day 1, 1st JT, 166:15-19. However, the court did not swear in the jury, instead the court admonished the jury, and told the jury to return on Monday. *Id.*, 166:16-21.

The following Monday, the court and parties reconvened in chambers outside the presence of the jury. Transcript of Proceedings, August 29, 2022, Jury Trial Day 2, ("Tr. Day 2, 1st JT"), 3:1-9. It is unclear within the transcript whether Foster was present at this meeting because he was not addressed by the Court nor his counsel. During this meeting, the court excluded all DNA evidence and related testimony, due to the State's late disclosure of the evidence to the defense. *Id.*, 18:3-6; 18:24-

19:5. However, the court determined testimony by the newly disclosed cell mate would be allowable at the then proceeding trial. *Id.*, 11:4-12:12.

The State moved for a continuance to allow both parties to interview the newly disclosed cell mate witness, which the defense did not oppose and the continuance was granted by the court. *Id.*, 21:10-13, 22:13-14, 23:1-4. The court cautioned that based on the continuance, the then excluded DNA evidence was now properly disclosed and would be admissible at any new trial setting. *Id.*, 24:1-25:4.

The court never addressed, at any point, Foster's absence at the prior meeting, nor did it take any action to confirm that Foster understood or agreed with the actions taken at the prior meeting.

Following the continuance of the previous, Foster's case moved forward to a second jury trial, where a new jury was seated, and after four days the trial ended on January 20, 2023, with the jury returning guilty verdicts on each count of the State's Information. See Doc. 84-90, Verdict Forms. On June 15, 2023, Foster was sentenced. See Doc. 107, Judgment. Following the entry of judgment, Foster timely appealed.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

I. "A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel constitutes a mixed question of law and fact that we review de novo." *State v. Brandt*, 2020 MT 79, 399 Mont.

- 415,¶ 10, 460 P.3d 427 (citing *State v. Hooper*, 2016 MT 237, 385 Mont. 14,¶ 5, 386 P.3d 548).
- II. Whether a criminal defendant's right to be present at the critical stages of his trial has been violated is a question of constitutional law, for which this court exercises plenary review. *State v. Mccarthy*, 2004 MT 312, 324 Mont. 1, ¶ 29, 101 P.3d 288, citing *State v. Kennedy*, 2004 MT 53, 320 Mont. 161, ¶ 13, 85 P.3d 1279 (internal citation omitted).
- III. Under the plain error doctrine, this court may discretionarily review claimed errors that implicate a criminal defendant's fundamental constitutional rights, even if no contemporaneous objection was made, where failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *State v. Stokes*, 2024 MT 32, 415 Mont. 208, ¶ 1, 543 p.3d 601.

IV.

ARGUMENT

I. FOSTER'S COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE BY NOT RAISING A STATUTORY MULTIPLE CHARGES OBJECTION TO SEVERAL COUNTS OF CONVICTION WHEN SOME COUNTS CONSTITUTED LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES AND OTHERS WERE PART OF THE SAME TRANSACTION

A. THE COURT SHOULD REVIEW FOSTER'S IAC CLAIM ON DIRECT APPEAL

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article II, Section 24 of the Montana Constitution guarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Aker*, 2013 MT 253, 371 Mont. 491, ¶ 34, 310 P.3d 506. This Court has adopted the standard applied in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) to review ineffective assistance of counsel (IAC) claims, that is "a defendant must prove both (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense." *Garding v. State*, 2020 MT 163, 400 Mont. 296, ¶ 15, 466 P.3d 501 (citing *Whitlow v. State*, 2008 MT 140, 343 Mont. 90, ¶ 10, 183 P.3d 861); *State v. Crider*, 2014 MT 139, 375 Mont. 187, ¶ 34, 328 P.3d 612.

Generally, this Court will review IAC claims on direct appeal only when the record sufficiently answers "why" counsel did or did not take a certain course of action. *State v. Kime*, 2013 MT 14, 368 Mont. 261, ¶ 31, 295 P.3d 580. However, non-record-based claims may be raised on direct appeal where counsel either failed to do something that was required, or did something for which there is no plausible justification. *State v. Schaeffer*, 2014 MT 47, 374 Mont. 93, ¶ 35, 321 P.3d 809, citing *State v. Kougl*, 2004 MT 243, 323 Mont. 6, ¶ 15, 97 P.3d 1095.

For instance, this Court has repeatedly found it appropriate to review IAC claims on direct appeal where defense counsel failed to evaluate the statute under

which their client was charged and advise the defendant accordingly. State v. Becker, 2005 MT 75, 326 Mont. 364, ¶¶ 18-19, 110 P.3d 1, citing Kennedy v. Maggio, 725 F.2d 269, 270-72 (5th Cir. 1984). This has been especially true when defense counsel has failed to object under Montana's statutory protections against multiple charges, many times referred to as Montana's "statutory double jeopardy" provisions. See Becker, \P 17 ("...we conclude that it is appropriate to analyze this case under Becker's ineffective assistance of counsel claim."); State v. Williams, 2010 MT 58, 355 Mont. 354, ¶ 16, 228 P.3d 1127 (analyzing IAC raised for the first time on direct appeal); State v. Brandt, 2020 MT 79, 399 Mont. 415, ¶ 32, 460 P.3d 427 ("Brandt's ineffective assistance of counsel claim is the appropriate vehicle to address the unpreserved multiple conviction challenges..."); State v. Ellison, 2018 MT 252, 393 Mont. 90, ¶ 25, 428 P.3d 826 (this "Court has held that failure to make a valid objection based on the statutory prohibition on multiple charges constitutes deficient performance under Strickland.").

In the present case, Foster's counsel failed to address the multiple charges that Foster faced, several of which were barred by Montana's statutory protection against multiple charges. Accordingly, this Court should review Foster's unpreserved IAC claim on direct appeal.

B. FOSTER'S COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE MULTIPLE CHARGES WHICH WERE IN VIOLATION OF

MONTANA'S STATUTORY PROVISIONS WAS DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE

This Court has plainly stated that a failure to make any motion in the district court raising the application of Montana's multiple conviction statute, when it is applicable, is almost certainly per se deficient performance on the part of defense counsel. *Ellison*, \P 26, citing to *Becker*, \P 25.

Here, no motion or objection was made by Foster's counsel when several counts of conviction were barred by Montana's statutory protections against multiple charges.

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