FILED

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0461

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

DONALD EDWARD FOSTER.

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, The Honorable Michael G. Moses, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General THAD TUDOR Assistant Attorney General **215 North Sanders** P.O. Box 201401

Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 thad.tudor@mt.gov

Yellowstone County Attorney JACOB YERGER Deputy County Attorney P.O. Box 35025 Billings, MT 59107-5025

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Foster has not met his burden of showing either deficient performance or prejudice to establish IAC under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

The convictions in this case were based on compelling, unrefuted evidence of separate and distinct acts, which took place over several hours in different bedrooms and involved different forms of penetration. The convictions were not precluded by Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2)(a), hence, there was no valid objection to be made under that statute. This Court should decline to conduct plain error review of the in-chambers conversation that took place in Foster's absence on August 26, 2022. The conversation did not result in any conceivable prejudice. Foster's attorneys wanted to intelligently discuss evidence provided by his cell mate prior to passing on information that could result in additional violence at the jail. When the parties returned the following Monday to resume that conversation in Foster's presence, he remained in the same position to demand that the jury be sworn in and to proceed to trial. However, Foster acquiesced to what was in reality a joint motion for a continuance for the explicitly stated and legitimate purpose of determining the precise nature of Hopkins' potential testimony.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

IAC claims raise mixed questions of law and fact that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Bryson*, 2024 MT 315, ¶ 23, 419 Mont. 490, 560 P.3d 1270 (citation omitted).

Preserved determinations regarding double jeopardy protections under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410 present questions of law that this Court reviews for correctness. *State v. Geren*, 2012 MT 307, ¶ 24, 367 Mont. 437, 291 P.3d 1144 (citing *State v. Williams*, 2010 MT 58, ¶ 13, 355 Mont. 354, 228 P.3d 1127; *State v. Becker*, 2005 MT 75, ¶ 14, 262 Mont. 364, 110 P.3d 1).

This Court invokes the plain error doctrine only under extraordinary circumstances. *State v. Trujillo*, 2020 MT 128, ¶ 6, 400 Mont. 124, 464 P.3d 72 (citing *State v. Mitchell*, 2012 MT 227, ¶ 10, 366 Mont. 379, 19 P.3d 817). To invoke plain error review, the appellant bears the burden to firmly convince this Court that the claimed error implicates a fundamental right, that such review is necessary to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice, or that failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *State v. George*, 2020 MT 56, ¶ 5, 399 Mont. 173, 459 P.3d 854 (citations omitted).

II. Foster has failed to meet his burden of showing either deficient performance or prejudice as a result of alleged IAC.

A. Introduction

This Court reviews IAC claims by applying the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland*. A defendant arguing IAC has a burden to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *State v. Valenzuela*, 2021 MT 244, ¶ 29, 405 Mont. 409, 495 P.3d 1061 (citing *Baca v. State*, 2008 MT 371, ¶ 16, 346 Mont. 474, 197 P.3d 948).

If an insufficient showing is made regarding one prong of the test, there is no need to address the other prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697. "If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed." *Id*.

To establish prejudice under the second prong of *Strickland*, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* The likelihood of a different result must be "substantial." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

"This Court has held that counsel's failure to make a *valid objection* based on the statutory prohibition on multiple charges constitutes deficient performance under *Strickland*." *State v. Ellison*, 2018 MT 252, ¶ 25, 393 Mont. 90, 428 P.3d 826 (citation omitted) (emphasis added). The problem with Foster's IAC claim is that, as his trial attorneys recognized, there was no valid objection to be made.

B. Foster's convictions were not barred by Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(1)-(2)(a).

(1) When the same transaction may establish the commission of more than one offense, a person charged with the conduct may be prosecuted for each offense. (2) A defendant may not, however, be convicted of more than one offense if:

(a) one offense is included in the other[.]

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2)(a).

(9) "Included offense" means an offense that:

(a) is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged;

(b) consists of an attempt to commit the offense charged or to commit an offense otherwise included in the offense charged[.]

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-1-202(9)(a)-(b).

As this Court has observed, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410 "makes it clear that a defendant may be convicted of multiple offenses arising from the same transaction." *State v. Goodenough*, 2010 MT 247, ¶ 25, 358 Mont. 219, 245 P.3d 14; *see also State v. Strong*, 2015 MT 251, ¶ 17, 380 Mont. 471, 356 P.3d 1078 (concluding that while defendant's conduct met the definition of "same transaction," that conclusion "does not mean that Strong could not be convicted of multiple offenses arising from this single transaction").

> 1. The attempts at forced vaginal penetration charged in Counts IV and V were not included offenses of forced oral and anal penetration.

The issue here is not whether Foster's unsuccessful attempts at vaginal penetration were part of the same transaction when he "immediately repositioned and raped her anally," as Foster asserts. (Appellant's Br. at 23.) "Whether one offense includes the other depends on the facts necessary to prove the offenses." *State v. McNamara*, 2023 MT 2, ¶ 21, 411 Mont. 159, 522 P.3d 808 (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 46-1-202(9)(a)). Therefore, the issue here is whether attempting to vaginally rape M.W. would necessarily be proven by the same evidence as that of Foster forcing his penis into her mouth or anus.

Obviously, Foster's attempts to vaginally penetrate M.W., once in the basement and again later in Judy's bedroom, were *not* attempts to penetrate her anus or mouth. Moreover, the attempted vaginal penetration was not proven by "the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-1-202(9)(a). Proof of each count required establishing different facts and, therefore, the included offense provisions are not implicated here. *See McNamara*, ¶ 22.

Foster's reliance on *Williams*, *supra*, is misplaced. (*See* Appellant's Br. at 22.) In *Williams*, the State alleged that the defendant penetrated Jane Doe's vagina with his finger. *Williams*, \P 7. Williams blocked the front door of the house after the first attack so Jane Doe could not leave. *Id.* Williams attempted to accost Jane Doe a second time, but she escaped from the house and fled to her mother's workplace. *Id.* The State charged Williams with SIWOC, sexual assault, assault on a minor, and intimidation. *Id.* \P 6.

On appeal, this Court concluded that Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-1-202(9) and 46-11-410(2) precluded Williams' convictions for both sexual intercourse without

consent and sexual assault because, based upon the way the charges were

presented, sexual assault was an included offense of the charged SIWOC, therefore

multiple convictions were precluded by Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2)(a).

Williams, ¶ 30.

As this Court observed:

We find it worth noting, however, that *the State chose to charge Williams only for the first attack on Jane Doe*. The information filed against Williams also mentioned a second attempted attack on Jane Doe as she tried to leave the house. This second attempted attack could have formed the basis of additional charges that might have altered our discussion of the matter regarding two separate transactions.

Id. ¶ 20 (emphasis added).

In other words, based upon the way that case was charged, there was no way

to prove the elements of the SIWOC that occurred without proving the elements of

sexual assault. Under those facts, sexual assault was an included offense of SIWOC.

Here, the State charged and proved five separate and distinct acts Foster

forced upon M.W. over the course of several hours in different bedrooms.³ None of

the convictions constituted included offenses of the others. The district court

demonstrated its understanding of the statutory definition of "included offense"

 $^{^{3}}$ M.W. testified to multiple distinct episodes of Foster forcing oral sex upon her. (1/19/23 Tr. at 66-67.) Further, M.W. testified to three distinct instances of anal rape: one in the downstairs bedroom (1/19/23 Tr. at 66, 112), and twice in Judy's bedroom. (*Id.* at 81-82, 87.)

when it granted Foster's motion to give the included offense instructions for *sexual assault*. As in *Williams*, based on the way this case was charged, sexual assault qualified as an included offense of the SIWOC charges under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-1-202(9).

2. The aggravated SIWOC charges in Counts I through III were not included offenses of each other.

Foster contends that this entire incident "should have been one charge, not three separate charges for the same course of conduct." (Appellant's Br. at 26.) Foster's argument mirrors that of the defendant in *Geren*, *supra*. Geren was convicted of one count of incest and one count of attempted incest for acts committed against his daughter, T.G., during the same hunting trip. *Geren*, ¶¶ 8-9, 21. First, Geren had forced his tongue into T.G.'s mouth and touched her breast. *Geren*, ¶ 8. "Sometime later," Geren tried to put his hand down T.G.'s pants. *Geren*, ¶ 9.

Geren, who had preserved the issue in district court, appealed his convictions for incest and attempted incest on the theory that "anything that happened from the time he and T.G. left the house to go hunting until the time they returned home constituted the same transaction." *Geren*, ¶ 40. Like Foster, Geren maintained that the two convictions were, therefore, barred by Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2). *Id*.

Affirming the convictions, this Court stated, "The fallacy in Geren's argument is that his convictions for Incest and Attempted Incest involving T.G.

were not based on the same transaction." *Geren*, ¶ 43. This Court pointed out that the State had "charged and proved" that the incest conviction involved a separate transaction from the conviction for attempted incest. *Geren*, ¶ 50. Citing *Williams*, *supra*, this Court reasoned, "We have already recognized that separate transactions can arise from criminal conduct occurring at the same place with the same victim." *Geren*, ¶ 47.

Here, Foster held M.W. hostage for several hours. Aside from attempting vaginal rape, Foster completed the acts of orally and anally raping M.W. in the downstairs bedroom. Then, Foster told M.W. to get dressed and took her upstairs to Judy's bedroom, where he eventually removed her pants and anally raped her again, twice. (*See, e.g.*, 1/19/23 Tr. at 75.) The rapes took place over what M.W. testified were "hours and hours and hours." (*Id.* at 72.)

Foster's proposed statutory interpretation to turn multiple rapes into one for sentencing purposes would lead to absurd results in the application of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2). "Statutory construction should not lead to absurd results if a reasonable interpretation can avoid it." *City of Missoula v. Fox*, 2019 MT 250, ¶ 18, 397 Mont. 388, 450 P.3d 898 (citations omitted).

For example, had Judy not escaped and called the police, this matter could have been even more prolonged. Foster's convenient interpretation of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2) would have allowed him to use that extra time, be it hours or days, to continue raping M.W. with no additional legal consequences. Foster cites no authority for this interpretation of the relevant statute because there is none.

C. Foster has not met his burden to show IAC or prejudice.

As discussed, any objection to the convictions under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-410(2) would have been futile. Failing to object when there is no error is not IAC. *See Hale v. Gibson*, 227 F.3d 1298, 1231 (10th Cir. 2000) ("As the evidence was properly admissible, we find that there was no deficiency in failing to raise an objection to it."). Therefore, Foster's attorneys' failure to object to the convictions could not constitute IAC.

Furthermore, Foster has not identified any conceivable prejudice based on the multiple convictions. Foster concedes the validity of the consecutive sentences on the two counts of aggravated kidnapping. (Appellant's Br. at 8.) Moreover, Foster concedes the "heinous" nature of the rapes, which he inaccurately references as his singular "act." (Appellant's Br. at 10.)

The district court pronounced the sentences for all of the SIWOC convictions to run concurrently. (Doc. 107 at 1-2.) The district court observed that Foster's acts were "horrendous," and stated, "there is no chance that this Court can punish commensurate with the harm caused in this particular case." (6/15/23 Tr. at 50.)

Therefore, whether Foster received one life sentence, plus 100 years for the kidnapping charges, or multiple concurrent life sentences, plus 100 years, is a

distinction without a difference. Foster has failed to meet his heavy burden of showing IAC by demonstrating he was somehow prejudiced by his counsels' failure to object to the multiple convictions.

Alternatively, in the event that this Court disagrees, the remedy is to reverse the conviction for the lesser-included offense only and to remand for resentencing. *Ellison, supra*, \P 26 (citing *Becker*, \P 25).

III. This Court should decline to exercise plain error review of an in-chambers conversation that took place in Foster's absence.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to be present at all criminal proceedings against him. *State v. Price*, 2009 MT 129, ¶ 21, 350 Mont. 272, 207 P.3d 298 (citing *State v. Tapson*, 2001 MT 292, ¶ 14, 307 Mont. 428, 41 P.3d 305). The defendant also has a due process right to be present "whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fullness of his opportunity to defend against the charge." *Price*, ¶ 21 (quoting *State v. Matt*, 2008 MT 444, ¶ 16, 347 Mont. 530, 199 P.3d 244). Article II, section 24, of the Montana Constitution also expressly guarantees a defendant the right to appear and defend a criminal prosecution in person. The defendant has the legal right to be present during the proceeding of the trial whenever "anything is done which in any manner affects his right." *Price*, ¶ 22, (citing *Matt*, ¶ 17).

When this Court considers whether a district court has violated a defendant's right to be present, it generally first considers whether the court excluded the defendant from a "critical stage" of the proceeding. *State v. Godfrey*, 2009 MT 60, ¶ 25, 349 Mont. 335, 203 P.3d 834 (citing *State v. Mann*, 2006 MT 160, ¶ 15, 332 Mont. 476, 139 P.3d 159).

If this Court determines that the district court violated the defendant's right to be present, it considers "the effect the violation has on the defendant to determine whether the defendant suffered any conceivable prejudice." *Godfrey*, ¶ 25 (citing *Mann*, ¶ 15). If the record shows the defendant was not prejudiced, this Court has affirmed. *See Godfrey*, ¶ 25 (citing *State v. Kennedy*, 2004 MT 53, ¶¶ 27, 34, 320 Mont. 161, 85 P.3d 1279).

The in-chambers discussion on August 26, 2022, was not a critical stage of the proceedings since Foster's attorneys determined they needed to ascertain the district court's thoughts on recently discovered evidence prior to sharing that information with their client, which could have resulted in additional violence. They explained his absence, stating, "Because we want to see how this would go forward before I could advise him just to avoid any potential safety issues or retaliation issues for him when he returns back to the detention center after the conclusion of today's proceedings." (8/26/22 Tr. at 116.)

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